Case No. 93,353

SHIRLEY SAWCZAK,

Petitioner,

vs.

ALAN L. GOLDENBERG, M.D., ALAN L. GOLDENBERG, M.D. P.A., J. STERNBERG and S. SCHULMAN, M.D. CORP., ALAN ALARCON, M.D., and HUMANA INC. d/b/a WESTSIDE REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, f/k/a HUMANA HOSPITAL BENNETT,

Respondents.

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Herman J. Russomanno Robert J. Borrello RUSSOMANNO & BORRELLO, P.A. Museum Tower, Suite 2101 150 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Telephone: (305) 373-2101 Facsimile: (305) 373-2103

Attorneys for Appellant Shirley Sawczak

O_{1} O_{2} C_{1} C_{2} C_{2	
(Fla. 1991)	a.
<u>Owens Corning Fiberglas Corp. v. Morse</u> , 653 So.2d 409, 410 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u> , 662 So.2d 932 (Fla 1995)	a. , 33, 42
1995)	, 33, 42
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 18 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1024 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) Rilev v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1991)	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 18 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1024 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) Rilev v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1991)	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 18 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1024 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987)	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 18 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 504 So (1987) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995)	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 18 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1993) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 500 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 3
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 18 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1993) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 504 So (2000) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 504 So (2000) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 1998) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 1982)	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 3 20
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 18 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1024 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 504 So (1987) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 504 So (1987) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 102A 1995) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 1956) Seaboard Air Line Railroad Co. v. Strickland, 88 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) 504 So (1986)	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 3 20 11
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 19 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) Siley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 1024 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 1024 (Fla. 1956) Seaboard Air Line Railroad Co. v. Strickland, 88 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) 11956)	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 3 20 11 43
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 19 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1024 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 504 So (1987) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 504 So (1987) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 505 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 505 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) Shufflebarger v. Galloway, 668 So.2d 996 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) 501 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) Stager v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 163 So.2d 15 (Fla, 3d DCA 1964), cert. discharged, 174 So.2d 540	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 3 20 11 43 20 (Fla.).
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 19 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1024 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 504 So (1987) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 504 So (1987) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 505 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 505 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) Shufflebarger v. Galloway, 668 So.2d 996 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) 501 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) Stager v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 163 So.2d 15 (Fla, 3d DCA 1964), cert. discharged, 174 So.2d 540	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 3 20 11 43 20 (Fla.).
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 19 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1024 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 504 So (1987) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 504 So (1987) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 505 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 505 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) Shufflebarger v. Galloway, 668 So.2d 996 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) 501 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) Stager v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 163 So.2d 15 (Fla, 3d DCA 1964), cert. discharged, 174 So.2d 540	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 3 20 11 43 20 (Fla.).
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 1995) Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1995) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 1997) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 1995) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 1998) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 1996) Seaboard Air Line Railroad Co. v. Strickland, 88 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) 1996) Silva v. Nightingale, 619 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) 1996) Silva v. Nightingale, 619 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) 174 So.2d 540 cert. denied, 382 U.S. 878 (1965) 163 So.2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964), cert. discharged, 174 So.2d 540 cert. denied, 382 U.S. 878 (1965) 20 Stokes v. Wet 'N Wild, Inc., 523 So.2d 181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) 20 Superior Indus. Int'l, Inc. v. Faulk, 695 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1997) 20	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 3 20 11 43 20 (Fla.), 46 , 26, 37 22
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 1995) Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1993) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1995) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 1997) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 1995) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 1995) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 1996) Schreier v. Galloway, 668 So.2d 996 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 1996) Silva v. Nightingale, 619 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) 1996) Silva v. Nightingale, 619 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) 174 So.2d 540 cert. denied, 382 U.S. 878 (1965) 163 So.2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964), cert. discharged, 174 So.2d 540 cert. denied, 382 U.S. 878 (1965) 20 Stokes v. Wet 'N Wild, Inc., 523 So.2d 181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) 20 Superior Indus. Int'l, Inc. v. Faulk, 695 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) 20 Superior Indus. Int'l, Inc. v. Faulk, 695 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) 20	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 3 20 11 43 20 (Fla.), 46 , 26, 37 22 30
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 1995) Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1126 (Fla. 1998) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1126 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 1126 (Fla. 115 DCA 1997) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) 1126 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) 1126 (Fla. 1956) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) 1126 (Fla. 1956) Seaboard Air Line Railroad Co. v. Strickland, 88 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) 1126 (Fla. 1956) Shufflebarger v. Galloway, 668 So.2d 996 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) 1126 (Fla. 1956) Silva v. Nightingale, 619 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) 1126 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) Stager v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 163 So.2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964), cert. discharged, 174 So.2d 540 (cert. denied, 382 U.S. 878 (1965) 20 Stokes v. Wet 'N Wild, Inc., 523 So.2d 181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) 20 Superior Indus. Int'l, Inc. v. Faulk, 695 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) 20 The Florida Bar v. Schaub, 618 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1993) 20 The Florida Bar v. Sc	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 11 43 20 (Fla.), 46 , 26, 37 22 30 .11, 12
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 1126 (Fla. 1998) Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1126 (Fla. 1998) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1126 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 110 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) Seaboard Air Line Railroad Co. v. Strickland, 88 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) Shufflebarger v. Galloway, 668 So.2d 996 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) 123 So.2d 196 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) Silva v. Nightingale, 619 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) 144 So.2d 540 (ret. denied, 382 U.S. 878 (1965) Stokes v. Wet 'N Wild, Inc., 523 So.2d 181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) 20 Superior Indus. Int'l, Inc. v. Faulk, 695 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) 10 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1993) The Florida Bar v. Schaub, 618 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1993) 20 Superior Indus. Int'l, Inc. v. Faulk, 695 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) 20 The Florida Bar v. Schaub, 618 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1993) 20 Webb v. Priest, 413 So.2d 43 (Fla, 3d DCA 1982) 20	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 11 43 20 (Fla.), 46 , 26, 37 22 30 .11, 12 49
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 1126 (Fla. 1998) Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 1126 (Fla. 1998) Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 1126 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So (1987) 110 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) Seaboard Air Line Railroad Co. v. Strickland, 88 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) Suger v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 163 So.2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964), cert. discharged, 174 So.2d 540 cert. denied, 382 U.S. 878 (1965) 120 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) Superior Indus. Int'l, Inc. v. Faulk, 695 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) 20 So.2d 174 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) Yue v. Apalachicola Northern Railroad Co., 130 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1961) 20 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1961)	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 11 43 20 (Fla.), 46 , 26, 37 22 30 .11, 12 49
1995) 18 Parker v. Hoppock, 695 So.2d 424 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), rev. denied, 707 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1998) 18 Pippin v. Latosynski, 622 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) 126 Riley v. Willis, 585 So.2d 1024 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) 128 S.H. Investment and Development Corp. v. Kincaid, 495 So.2d 768 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), rev. denied, 504 So 1987) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) Sacred Heart Hosp. of Pensacola v. Stone, 650 So.2d 676, 680 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) Sawczak v. Goldenberg, 710 So.2d 996 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1998) Schreier v. Parker, 415 So.2d 794 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) Seaboard Air Line Railroad Co. v. Strickland, 88 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1956) Shufflebarger v. Galloway, 668 So.2d 996 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) Silva v. Nightingale, 619 So.2d 4 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) Stager v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 163 So.2d 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964), cert. discharged, 174 So.2d 540 cert. denied, 382 U.S. 878 (1965) 20 Stokes v. Wet 'N Wild, Inc., 523 So.2d 181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) 20 Superior Indus. Int'1, Inc. v. Faulk, 695 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1997) The Florida Bar v. Schaub, 618 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1993) Tyus v. Apalachicola Northern Railroad Co., 130 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1961) Tyus v. Apalachicola Northern Railroad Co., 130 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1961) Webb v. Priest, 413 So.2d 43 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) Westbrook v. General Tire & Rubber Co., 754 F.	, 33, 42 21 . 20, 27 . 20, 39 .2d 767 24 20 11 43 20 (Fla.), 46 , 26, 37 22 30 . 11, 12 49 24

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