# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,353

SHIRLEY G. SAWCZAK,

Petitioner,

VS.

ALAN L. GOLDENBERG, M.D., ALAN L. GOLDENBERG, M.D., P.A., J. STERNBERG and S. SCHULMAN, M.D., CORP., ALAN ALARCON, M.D., and HUMANA INC., d/b/a WESTSIDE REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER f/k/a HUMANA HOSPITAL BENNETT

Respondents.

ON PETITION TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT, ALAN ALARCON, M.D.

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

Plaintiff claims that these alleged comments constitute fundamental error even though she failed to object to most of them, and when an objection was made and sustained, she did not request a curative instruction or a mistrial. Plaintiff has thus failed to preserve the alleged error, and waived the issue for appellate review.

Further, Dr. Alarcon denies that the alleged comments were improper. Instead, the comments were fair inferences from the evidence and the conduct and trial strategy of Plaintiff and Dr. Goldenberg, her surgeon. Even if the alleged comments were indeed technically improper (which is denied), they did not result in an unfair trial or in a miscarriage of justice. In other words, they did not rise to the level of fundamental error. The verdict would have been the same even if the comments had not been made.

Moreover, Plaintiff has not and cannot argue that the verdict is unsupported by the evidence.

Dr. Goldenberg, admitted that he was negligent, and that there was nothing that Dr. Alarcon could

have done to prevent Plaintiff's injury. Even Plaintiff's own expert witnesses did not agree on how to interpret the x-ray films.

Plaintiff instead claims that the trial judge also erred in allowing the defense to introduce cumulative expert testimony. However, it was Plaintiff who filed two motions to limit expert witness testimony to one per specialty per party. Although she later moved to strike one of the radiology experts because the Radiology Group only had vicarious liability, the judge denied the motion because it was made after trial call, and Plaintiff's counsel admitted that he knew the Radiology Group only had vicarious liability from the time he filed the complaint. Plaintiff cannot now claim that she was denied a fair trial because the judge abused his discretion in granting her own motions or in refusing to change the prior rulings.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. THE LOWER COURT'S DENIAL OF PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND NO FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.
  - A. A Stricter Standard Of Review Is Required Where The Alleged Error Was Not Preserved And No Curative Instruction Was Submitted.

Plaintiff argues that the alleged improper comments either individually or cumulatively constitute fundamental error and asks this Court to review the comments as a matter of law. In doing so, she fails to recognize that in Florida the denial of a motion for new trial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard by the appellate court, and arrives there under a presumption of correctness. Cloud v. Fallis, 110 So. 2d 669, 673 (Fla. 1959); Pix Shoes of Miami, Inc. v. Howarth, 201 So. 2d 80, 81 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967). Great deference is accorded the decision of the trial judge because he is in the best position to determine whether the claimed errors affected the result in a particular case. Cleveland Clinic Florida v. Wilson, 685 So. 2d 15, 16 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). See also Tyus v. Apalachicola Northern Railroad Co., 130 So. 2d 580, 588 (Fla. 1961).

Whether the trial judge has abused his discretion in denying a motion for new trial is determined by the "reasonableness" test. Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). Under this test, the appellate court must determine whether the trial court's order was arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable. *Id.*; Saunders v. Smith, 382 So. 2d 1254, 1255 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). In explaining the discretionary standard of review, this Court, in Canakaris, 382 So. 2d at 1203, stated that the appellate court must fully recognize the superior vantage point of the trial judge, and that his ruling should be disturbed only when his decision fails to satisfy this test of reasonableness. In the instant case, given the overwhelming evidence that it was Dr. Goldenberg's negligence alone that caused the Plaintiff's injury, it cannot be plausibly argued that the court's denial of Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial was arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable.

Moreover, if, as in this case, most of the alleged improper comments were not objected to, and where an objection was made and sustained no contemporaneous motion for mistrial was made, the alleged errors are unpreserved and waived for appellate review. Hagan v. Sun Bank of MidFlorida, 666 So. 2d 580, 585 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) ("difficult, if not impossible, to determine whether the failure to move for a mistrial in a timely manner was a tactical decision or an oversight"). See Gregory v. Seaboard System Railroad, 484 So. 2d 35 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) (order granting new trial reversed where 22 of 28 statements cited as grounds for new trial were unobjected to and not mentioned in motion for mistrial). Although Plaintiff did move for a mistrial at the end of closing arguments, she withdrew the motion when the judge would not reserve ruling. (T. 3548-49).

While Dr. Alarcon acknowledges that fundamental error is an exception to the general rule on preservation of error, this Court has held that: "[t]he failure to object is a strong indication that, at the time and under the circumstances the [plaintiff] did not regard the alleged fundamental error as harmful or prejudicial." Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1981). In fact, more than 42 years have elapsed since this Court last reversed for a new trial based on unobjected-to closing argument. Seaboard Air Line Railroad Co. v. Strickland, 88 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 1956). Almost a decade-and-a-half after Strickland, this Court defined fundamental error as "error which goes to the foundation of the case, or goes to the merits of the cause of action," which appellate courts should apply "very

It is also well-established that where, as here, the trial judge has extended counsel an opportunity to cure an error, and counsel fails to do so, such error, if any, was invited and will not warrant reversal. Sullivan v. State, 303 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1974), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911 (1976). See City of Coral Gables v. Levison, 220 So. 2d 430, 431 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969) (reversal not warranted where trial counsel "invited error" by not taking advantage of the trial judge's offer to cure any alleged error with an instruction). Further, contrary to Plaintiff's claim that no curative instruction could have erased the prejudice caused by the alleged improper comments, numerous courts have held just the opposite. See Section I.D., infra, and cases cited therein.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See also Murphy v. Technology Innovations International, Inc., 710 So. 2d 587 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. granted, \_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. August 7, 1998); Weise v. Repa Film Int'l., Inc., 683 So. 2d 1128, 1129 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Donahue v. FPA Corp., 677 So. 2d 882, 884 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Nelson v. Reliance Insur. Co., 368 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978); LeRetilley v. Harris, 354 So. 2d 1213, 1214 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978).

guardedly." <u>Sanford v. Rubin</u>, 237 So. 2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970). In <u>Sanford</u>, this Court held that the unconstitutionality of a statute under which attorney's fees were awarded was not fundamental error which could be raised for the first time on appeal. Dr. Alarcon submits that the error argued in <u>Sanford</u> was more egregious than the alleged improper argument of defense counsel.

More significantly, the last time this Court addressed unobjected-to argument in a civil case was in 1961, in <u>Tyus v. Apalachicola Northern Railroad Co.</u>, 130 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 1961). <u>Tyus</u> is significant because, although the First District had reversed a plaintiff's verdict in a wrongful death action because of unobjected-to argument, this Court quashed that decision, holding that there should have been an objection. The arguments made by plaintiff's counsel in <u>Tyus</u>, which are set forth in the dissent, are as bad as, if not worse than, the arguments reversed in the cases cited on Page 12 of Plaintiff's Brief.

In <u>Tyus</u>, the contemporaneous objection rule outweighed, in this Court's view, the possible injustice resulting from the closing argument. As this Court emphasized, the trial judge "who was in the milieu of the court room throughout the trial," was in "a much better position" than an appellate court, to determine if the argument was so prejudicial as to require a new trial. 130 So. 2d at 588.

Given the nature of the remarks which this Court held not to be fundamental error in <u>Tyus</u>, and this Court's later definition of fundamental error in <u>Sanford v. Rubin</u>, Dr. Alarcon submits that the Plaintiff should not be permitted to raise the closing arguments issue for the first time on appeal.

Furthermore, as the court in <u>Hagan</u>, 666 So. 2d at 584, stated, there is no "right" to a post-trial remedy in a civil case for fundamental error. The court explained that even if there was error in a closing argument, it is not structural or per se error. *Id*. The movant must always establish that the closing argument was harmful before either the trial or appellate court can override the jury or grant a new trial. *Id*. The court described the movant's burden as being "extremely close to a Catch-22

because the trial attorney who did not object must establish that the closing argument was exceptionally objectionable." *Id.* at 586.

In recognizing that a stricter standard of review should be applied by the appellate courts for unpreserved error as opposed to preserved error, the court in <u>Hagan</u> held that in reviewing a motion for new trial based on unpreserved error, the appellate court must <u>first</u> determine whether the trial judge abused his broad discretion in ruling on what effect the alleged prejudicial comments had on the jury's rational consideration of the case, and, <u>second</u>, whether the comments resulted in fundamental error and caused the jury to return an erroneous verdict. *Id.* at 587. The court also said: "[t]hat is, the court must determine whether the error so irreparably harmed the foundation of the case that, if not corrected, it would undermine the public's confidence in the judicial system. <u>This</u> seems to us a difficult standard to pass." *Id.* (emphasis added).

In his scholarly opinion, Judge Altenbernd further explained that:

[a]ny unpreserved error that is so pervasively prejudicial and fundamental as to warrant a new trial should also be an error that demonstrably misled the jury. If the record does not disclose that the improper argument resulted in a miscarriage of justice, there is no harmful error justifying a new trial, especially in the absence of an objection by an interested party.

<u>Hagan</u>, 666 So. 2d at 587. Applying this rationale to the unpreserved error in <u>Hagan</u>, the court concluded that the trial judge: (1) abused his discretion in granting the motion for new trial because there was nothing in the record to suggest that the jury verdict was contrary to the weight of the evidence, and (2) erred as a matter of law in determining that counsel's "golden rule" argument was fundamental error requiring a new trial. *Id.* at 588.

Similarly, under the reasoning in <u>Hagan</u>, it cannot be plausibly argued that the trial judge here abused his discretion in determining that the alleged improper comments were not prejudicial or inflammatory enough to preclude the jury's rational consideration of the evidence in this case, and did not err in finding that the alleged comments individually and cumulatively did not rise to the level

of fundamental error. In the final analysis, the verdict would have been the same even if the alleged improper comments had not been made.

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